



Direct feedback application for training with Osteoarthritis affected to the lower extremities

A smartphone application to improve patients compliance and empowerment during training

Master's thesis in Biomedical Engineering

EMELIE CARLBERG

DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICS CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Gothenburg, Sweden 2021 www.chalmers.se

MASTER'S THESIS 2021

Direct feedback application for training with Osteoarthritis affected to the lower extremities

A smartphone application to improve patients compliance and empowerment during training

EMELIE CARLBERG



Department of Physics Division of Material Physics CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Gothenburg, Sweden 2021 Direct feedback application for training with Osteoarthritis affected to the lower extremities A smartphone application to improve patients compliance and empowerment during training EMELIE CARLBERG

© EMELIE CARLBERG, 2021.

Supervisor: Magnus Karlsteen, Department of Physics Examiner: Magnus Karlsteen, Department of Physics

Master's Thesis 2021 Department of Physics Division of Material Physics

Chalmers University of Technology SE-412 96 Gothenburg Telephone +46 31 772 1000

Cover: Photo taken during training with the application. Photo by Author.

Typeset in LATEX Printed by Chalmers Reproservice Gothenburg, Sweden 2021 Direct feedback application for training with Osteoarthritis affected to the lower extremities A smartphone application to improve patients compliance and empowerment during training EMELIE CARLBERG Department of Physics Chalmers University of Technology

Abstract

This master's thesis covers the development of an application for patients and healthcare providers training to alleviate Osteoarthritis symptoms. The method used in this application to judge if the training is performed in a safe and correct manner is by using angles. These angles are measured using the smartphone accelerometers, magnetometer and gyroscope. These signals are used to provide direct feedback to the user, using Euler angles and a complementary filter.

The results indicate that the smartphone application can measure the angles of interest with good precision. There is still need for further development due to the problems of gimbal locking using Euler angles. Conclusions from the work is that there is great potential using the application both from a patient perspective and as a long term method for healthcare providers to follow up without physical visits.

Keywords: smartphone application, accelerometer, magnetometer, gyroscope, sensor fusion, direct feedback, osteoarthritis, training.

Acknowledgements

A big thanks to the team of physiotherapists Inger Björkenlid, Linnéa Dahlin and Monica Sommar, that have contributed with their knowledge during the whole process.

A big hug to my husband for the helpfulness, understanding and having such a large patience with me during this process.

A big thanks to my supervisor Magnus Karlsteen for all supporting meetings and making it possible to give the idea a try.

Emelie Carlberg, Gothenburg, May 2021

Contents

Li	List of Figures xi							
Li	st of	Tables xii						
A	crony	rms and Medical terms xv						
1	Intr	oduction 1						
	1.1	Treatment						
		1.1.1 History						
		1.1.2 Today						
		1.1.3 Upcoming						
	1.2	Technical solutions						
	1.3	Opening on market						
2	The	ory 5						
	2.1	Coordinate system						
	2.2	Sensors						
		2.2.1 Accelerometer						
		2.2.2 Gyroscope						
		2.2.3 Magnetometer						
		2.2.4 Sensor fusion						
	2.3	Filtering						
		2.3.1 Kalman filter						
		2.3.2 Complementary filter						
	2.4	Position tracking						
		2.4.1 Integration $\ldots \ldots \ldots$						
		2.4.2 Rotation with Euler angles $\ldots \ldots \ldots$						
	2.5	Bio-mechanical load						
3	Met	hods 13						
	3.1	Development of application						
		3.1.1 System design $\ldots \ldots 14$						
	3.2	Validation						
		3.2.1 Protractor validation						
		3.2.2 Squat time validation						
		3.2.3 Activity validation						
		3.2.4 Usability						

Res	ults		17
4.1	Applic	ation	17
4.2	Valida	tion results	19
	4.2.1	Protractor validation	19
	4.2.2	Squat time validation results	21
	4.2.3	Activity validation	21
	4.2.4	Usability	23
		4.2.4.1 Need for an application	$\frac{-9}{23}$
		4.2.4.2 Technical comments	$\frac{-3}{23}$
		4.2.4.3 Parameter control	$\frac{-3}{23}$
Disc	cussion	and Conclusion	25
5.1	Discus	sion	25
	5.1.1	Angles of interest	25
	5.1.2	Control is a hard parameter to analyze	25
	$5.1.2 \\ 5.1.3$	Control is a hard parameter to analyze	$25 \\ 26$
	$5.1.2 \\ 5.1.3 \\ 5.1.4$	Control is a hard parameter to analyze	25 26 26
	5.1.2 5.1.3 5.1.4 5.1.5	Control is a hard parameter to analyze	25 26 26 26
	$5.1.2 \\ 5.1.3 \\ 5.1.4 \\ 5.1.5 \\ 5.1.6$	Control is a hard parameter to analyze	25 26 26 26 26
	$5.1.2 \\ 5.1.3 \\ 5.1.4 \\ 5.1.5 \\ 5.1.6 \\ 5.1.7$	Control is a hard parameter to analyze	25 26 26 26 26 26 27
	$5.1.2 \\ 5.1.3 \\ 5.1.4 \\ 5.1.5 \\ 5.1.6 \\ 5.1.7 \\ 5.1.8$	Control is a hard parameter to analyze	25 26 26 26 26 26 27 27
	$5.1.2 \\ 5.1.3 \\ 5.1.4 \\ 5.1.5 \\ 5.1.6 \\ 5.1.7 \\ 5.1.8 \\ 5.1.9$	Control is a hard parameter to analyze	25 26 26 26 26 26 27 27 27
5.2	5.1.2 5.1.3 5.1.4 5.1.5 5.1.6 5.1.7 5.1.8 5.1.9 Future	Control is a hard parameter to analyze	25 26 26 26 26 26 27 27 27 27
	Res 4.1 4.2 Dise 5.1	Results 4.1 Applic 4.2 Valida 4.2.1 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.3 4.2.4 Discussion 5.1 Discus 5.1.1 Discus	Results 4.1 Application 4.2 Validation results 4.2.1 Protractor validation 4.2.2 Squat time validation results 4.2.3 Activity validation 4.2.4 Usability 4.2.4.1 Need for an application 4.2.4.2 Technical comments 4.2.4.3 Parameter control 5.1 Discussion 5.1.1 Angles of interest

List of Figures

Knee osteoarthritis, left side normal knee, right side affected knee. Illustration free to use under Share Alike Creative Commons license 4.0 International license. Available at: https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Osteoarthritis.png
The Treatment-pyramid of Osteoarthritis. With permission to use,1illustration by Signe Svensson.2
The different coordinate system to combine. Portions of this page are reproduced from work created and shared by the Android Open Source Project and used according to terms described in the Creative Commons 2.5 Attribution License. Available at: https://developer.android.com/guide/topics/sensors. Mod-
A basic setup for sensor fusion and optional filtering of the signals from the three different sensors. Illustration by author.
Sensor fusion and filtering of the signals from the three different sen- sors by complementary filter design. Illustration by author
The three positions of the knee, neutral, valgus and varus position, where the increased pressure on the different plateau can be seen as decreased distance between femur and the tibia plateau. Illustration used according to terms described in the Creative Commons CC0 1.0 Universal Public Domain Dedication. Available at: https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/1/14/Genu_neutral.svg, https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/5/5d/Genu_varum.svg, https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/9/90/Genu_valgum.svg 11
Illustration of application development, full contours the way develop- ment turned out and dashed alternative tested or investigated during
The system design illustrated Illustration by author 14
Illustration over the validation process around the x-axis. Illustration
by author
by author

4.1	The launch screen, also called training screen. Illustration by author.	17
4.2	The advanced training screen. Illustration by author	18
4.3	The analyze list screen. Illustration by author	19

List of Tables

4.1	Results of protractor validation around x-axis in positive direction	
	measured in degrees	20
4.2	Results of protractor validation around x-axis in negative direction	
	measured in degrees	20
4.3	Results of protractor validation around y-axis measured in degrees.	21
4.4	Time difference between application measured squat-time and clocked	
	time in seconds	21
4.5	Repetition time set one	22
4.6	Knee position set one	22
4.7	Repetition time set two	22
4.8	Knee position set two	22
4.9	Repetition time set three	22
4.10	Knee position set three	22

Acronyms and Medical terms

Acronyms

OA	Osteoarthritis
WHO	World health organisation
ROM	Range of motion
ACL	Anterior collateral ligament

Medical terms

Valgus position	Knee tips towards the center of the body
Neutral position	Hip, Knee and ankle in a straight line
Varus position	Knee tips away from the center of the body
Femur	The name of the upper long bone
Tibia	The shinbone
Medial	To the middle of the body
Lateral	From the middle of the body

1 Introduction

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a joint disease, it leads to pain and disability every year for the affected and carry high costs for society [1, 2, 3]. It is one of the most common diseases [2], according to the World health organisation (WHO) it is one of the ten most common causes of disability among elderly people [3]. Nearly 10% of all men and 20% of all women over 60 years of age have problems due to OA [3, 4]. The disease can affect all joints in the body but the joints that take most of the body weight such as the hips and knees is represented in a higher volume [1]. An affected knee joint is illustrated in figure 1.1. There is no cure to the disease today, but treatments exist.



Figure 1.1: Knee osteoarthritis, left side normal knee, right side affected knee. Illustration free to use under Share Alike Creative Commons license 4.0 International license.

Available at: https://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Osteoarthritis.png

1.1 Treatment

The treatment of OA is divided into different stages, as seen in figure 1.2. In Sweden all patients will get information, personally fitted training and advice about weight loss according to the National Board of Health and Welfare [1]. To most patients it is enough with the first step [5], but if it is not, anti-inflammatory drugs and other analgesic methods can be used[1, 5]. The last resort, that very few patients need, is to undergo joint replacement surgery [1]. Around 80% of all patients do not need surgery [6]. It is of importance that the intervention is given in an early stage of

the development of OA, today the median age of patients in the national program in Sweden is 67 years, that implies that the intervention may be a bit too late [6].



Figure 1.2: The Treatment-pyramid of Osteoarthritis. With permission to use, illustration by Signe Svensson.

There is a lifelong need for training as treatment due to OA [1]. The exercises should be carried out with good control daily to get the best effect [1, 7]. Control is measured by the parameters of up and down movement and the position of the knee. The position of the knee is of great interest, to observe and prevent valgus position, as this increases load on the joint [8, 9]. When the patients have supervision from a physiotherapist it is more common to follow the regime and perform the exercise correctly than when performing it on their own [1]. A problem is that it can be hard for the patients to know if they perform the exercise correctly when leaving the clinic. This is where a gap is seen today, there is a need of a simple tool to get both feedback over time and directly during training.

1.1.1 History

Joint problems have been known for a long time in old people [10]. At first it was an old mans disease, something that just older people got. The first way of treating OA was with joint replacement [10]. The understanding of the disease is better today but the mechanisms behind it are still not completely clear [10].

1.1.2 Today

The main non invasive treatment for OA is exercise [1, 11]. There are different programs from different countries and some difference if the hip or knee joint is affected [1, 12]. But the main goal to increase range of motion (ROM) and strength to the extremity is the same both for hip and knee OA [5, 13]. The importance is to build empowerment and focus on person-centered care, so that the patients own the possibility to change the outcome of the disease [7].

1.1.3 Upcoming

The future in treating OA may be to directly treat the joint with Mesenchymal stem cell injected or transplanted scaffold cartilage into the affected joint [14]. Treatment with injections involves an invasive part and a risk of infection, so it is not for everyone. Training and coping with the disease will likely be of high interest in the future, where technical solutions can play a big role.

There are some solutions where standard treatment of OA is web based, the effect of such programs differs [15, 16, 17]. It can be seen as a compliment or alternative to standard treatment in clinic, face to face [16]. The web based treatment can have effect on both pain and physical function [16, 18]. There is still a great need of trained medical professionals to give support to the patients during the rehabilitation.

1.2 Technical solutions

The need of a technical solution is big, due to the increasing elderly population and the incidence and prevalence of OA. The measurement systems that are on the market and used in clinic and research depends on a system of sensors or camera sensors [19]. The accuracy of the system is well proven but the downside is the physical size, amount of equipment needed and a trained person to analyze the results [19]. Joint motion can be detected and measured by the accelerometers in an ordinary smartphone [20]. But the phone used affects the outcome of the result [21]. The difference in a static test for different accelerometers in many phones shows that they differ [21].

1.3 Opening on market

There is a need of something for the patients to bring home to measure and easily control the training for empowerment and compliance during the life long rehabilitation. The parameters for movement control can be evaluated and controlled with a smartphone application, which should be easy to use for the patient. So the aim of this project will be to construct a smartphone application to measure and give direct feedback during training to patients suffering from OA.

This project will be held in collaboration with Chalmers University of Technology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU and Sahlgrenska University Hospital. (Sahlgrenska Academy at University of Gothenburg)

2

Theory

The theory behind a motion sensor system built upon integrated sensors in a smartphone needs some knowledge about the different sensors, how to perform sensor fusion, some different approaches to position tracking and how to filter the data.

2.1 Coordinate system

There is a difference between the smartphone coordinate system and the global coordinate system, as seen in figure 2.1[22]. The smartphone coordinate system is bound to the phone and will remain stationary relative to the phone. The earths coordinate system is fixed to the earths inertial frame of reference [22]. To get the change in orientation of the phone relative to the earth a rotation matrix is needed [22].



(a) Phone coordinate system (body coordinate)

(b) Earth coordinate system (world coordinate)

Figure 2.1: The different coordinate system to combine. Portions of this page are reproduced from work created and shared by the Android Open Source Project and used according to terms described in the Creative Commons 2.5 Attribution License. Available at: https://developer.android.com/guide/topics/sensors. Modified by Author.

To rotate the different coordinate system the basic elemental rotation around the three axes, x, y and z, is applied [22, 23, 24].

$$R_x(\alpha) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \cos\alpha & -\sin\alpha\\ 0 & \sin\alpha & \cos\alpha \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.1)

$$R_y(\beta) = \begin{bmatrix} \cos\beta & 0 & \sin\beta \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -\sin\beta & 0 & \cos\beta \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.2)

$$R_z(\gamma) = \begin{bmatrix} \cos\gamma & -\sin\gamma & 0\\ \sin\gamma & \cos\gamma & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.3)

Where the total rotation matrix is given as [22, 23, 24]:

$$R = R_x R_y R_z \tag{2.4}$$

with the given equations above [22, 23, 24]:

$$R = \begin{bmatrix} \cos\gamma\cos\beta - \sin\alpha\sin\beta\sin\gamma & \sin\gamma\cos\alpha & \cos\gamma\sin\beta + \sin\gamma\sin\alpha\cos\beta \\ -\cos\beta\sin\gamma - \sin\alpha\sin\beta\cos\gamma & -\cos\gamma\sin\alpha & \cos\gamma\sin\alpha\cos\beta - \sin\gamma\sin\beta \\ -\cos\alpha\sin\beta & -\sin\alpha & \cos\alpha\cos\beta \end{bmatrix} (2.5)$$

The rotation matrix results in a 3D orientation of the coordinate system.

2.2 Sensors

To build a measurement system for body movement a combination of different sensors need to be involved [22, 25]. The ones used in this work is accelerometer, gyroscope and magnetometer. The data from these sensors often need filtering to get accurate results.

2.2.1 Accelerometer

The accelerometer can be illustrated as a mass spring system. The accelerometer is based on Hooke's law (2.6) and Newtons second law (2.7), as following[25]:

$$F = kx \tag{2.6}$$

Where F is force, k is spring constant and x is displacement of the object attached to the spring. And Newtons second law [25]:

$$F = ma \tag{2.7}$$

Where F is force, m is mass and a is acceleration. From these two equations the expression for acceleration is given as:

$$a = \frac{kx}{m} \tag{2.8}$$

In a smartphone acceleration is measured in g, the gravitation constant [26]. If the smartphone is placed on a flat surface, it will show +9.81 in acceleration, this is due to the gravity component influencing the phone as [26]:

$$a = -g \frac{-\sum F}{m} \tag{2.9}$$

The accelerometer sensor in the smartphone detects acceleration in x, y and z direction, hence there is one accelerometer in every direction [23, 25]. The accelerometer is sensitive to motion of the smartphone, and will send a lot of information but the signal is also influenced of the gravity and noise.

2.2.2 Gyroscope

There are different types of gyroscopes [23], the one used in small units is commonly a vibrating mass gyroscope [25]. The gyroscope measures angular velocity or displacement of angular velocity [24]. The vibrating gyroscope is built upon Coriolis effect [24, 25]:

$$\boldsymbol{F}_C = -2m(\boldsymbol{\omega} \times \boldsymbol{v}) \tag{2.10}$$

Where F is force, m is the mass, $\boldsymbol{\omega}$ is the angular velocity and \boldsymbol{v} is the relative velocity to the object [25].

A problem that can occur with gyroscopes, is gimbal locking, this commonly happens at 90°, to prevent the problem there can be a rotation limiter at 85° of rotation of the inner gimbal [24]. This is a mathematical problem when using Euler angles for the rotation matrix, a solution is to use quaternions instead [27].

The gyroscope sensor drifts over time, this is due to changes in the rotation, procession, caused by imperfections in the sensor [24]. The signal gets integrated and over time the signal drifts, there is a need of filtering to minimize this issue [24].

2.2.3 Magnetometer

The magnetometer is used like a compass to the motion sensor. The problem with the magnetometer is that it picks up local magnetic fields, both inside the phone and outside as well as the earths magnetic field [23]. This means that even this supposedly stable signal is influenced by noise.

2.2.4 Sensor fusion

The different sensors in combination gives a more accurate signal [23, 25]. The accelerometer gives the direction, the gyroscope the rotation and the magnetometer helps the gyroscope to avoid drift over time [23, 25]. However the problem with noise from the signals remain, as for the magnetometer it is influenced by all surrounding magnetic fields (electronics, magnets), the accelerometer picks up all motion and white noise, the gyroscope has the risk of gimbal locking [25]. The sensor fusion needs to be tackled with filters to eliminate the different offsets, a basic setup is shown in figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2: A basic setup for sensor fusion and optional filtering of the signals from the three different sensors. Illustration by author.

2.3 Filtering

The need of filtering for the signal is of great proportions, otherwise the signal will consist of noise, drift and integration error accumulation. The filters used or studied will be presented below.

2.3.1 Kalman filter

When integrating acceleration to velocity or to get displacement a good filter design is a must. There needs to be reduced noise and disturbance signals due to described problems with integration in section 2.4.1. Kalman filtering can reduce the offset due to integration of the signal from 68% unfiltered to 9% filtered [28]. Filtering integrated acceleration signals to calculate human displacement have previously been done with good accuracy using Kalman filtering [29, 30]. It is however hard to implement the filter and it is processor intensive [31].

2.3.2 Complementary filter

A complementary filter design is another approach to minimize disturbance. The accelerometer data is combined with the magnetometer, low-pass filtered and the gyroscope signal, angular velocity, is integrated to get the gyroscope orientation and high-pass filtered [31]. These signals sum up to the output angles. The name complementary origins in that the two parts shown in figure 2.3 complement each other [31]. The low-pass filtered data is used to reduce the gyroscope drift [31].



Figure 2.3: Sensor fusion and filtering of the signals from the three different sensors by complementary filter design. Illustration by author.

Complementary filters are commonly used in smartphone applications, due to the low need of processing capacity [31]. The implementation of the output angle in code for around the x-axis:

```
output_angle[x] = filter_parameter * gyro_orientation[x] +...
...+ (1 - filter_parameter) * acceleration_magnetometer_orientation[x]
```

The calculation for output angle needs to be performed for every axis, x, y and z. The filter parameter needs to be adjusted to fit the smartphone used. The output angles will be in radians and need to be converted to degrees.

2.4 Position tracking

For position tracking there are different approaches available. Two common approaches is to go for integration of the accelerometer data or calculate the rotation angles.

2.4.1 Integration

In the smartphone there are no sensors or possibilities to get velocity or displacement directly. The acceleration data available needs to be integrated one time to get velocity (2.11) for the up and down movement of the exercises and twice to get displacement (2.12), for the position of the knee, the valgus displacement. This signal however is influenced by a lot of noise, integration of such a signal can be problematic [23].

$$v(T) = \int_0^T a(t)dt = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{T}{n} \sum_{s=1}^n a(t_s)$$
(2.11)

$$d(T) = \int_0^T v(t)dt = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{T}{n} \sum_{s=1}^n v(t_s)$$
(2.12)

The problem with integration of the signal is that the noise and errors also get integrated and grows over time, in quadratic speed due to the integration needed to get displacement [23]. The need of double integration makes it important to construct a robust integration procedure. Another problem is the estimation of gravity, when it gets integrated a large error is implemented with just a small angular deviation [23].

2.4.2 Rotation with Euler angles

Euler angles is a common way to calculate angles from sensor data. The angles are called, roll (around x-axis), pitch (around y-axis) and heading (around z-axis) [25]. The Euler angles can be computed from the rotation matrix in equation 2.5, the angle is the difference in rotation between the coordinate systems described in section 2.1 [32]. When the local coordinate system of the phone gets close to plus minus 90° of a certain axis (in this case around y-axis) the system fails, this is due to singularities caused by gimbal locking [24, 25]. Quaternions is a \mathbb{R}^4 way of describing angles in \mathbb{R}^3 and eliminates the risk of gimbal locking [27].

2.5 Bio-mechanical load

The position of the knee can be neutral, valgus or varus described in figure 2.4. The position affect the loading of the knee, the tibia plateau. The medial part takes the load in varus and the lateral in valgus [8, 9]. Valgus alignment of the knee increases the risk of OA [8]. The displacement in degrees between 1.1 to 3 degrees results in higher risk of developing OA, and progression of the disease [9]. These measurements were done in long leg x-ray [9], not during activity, hence other angles needs to be used as offset angles in this project.



Figure 2.4: The three positions of the knee, neutral, valgus and varus position, where the increased pressure on the different plateau can be seen as decreased distance between femur and the tibia plateau. Illustration used according to terms described in the Creative Commons CC0 1.0 Universal Public Domain Dedication. Available at:

https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/1/14/Genu_neutral.svg, https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/5/5d/Genu_varum.svg, https://upload.wikimedia.org/wikipedia/commons/9/90/Genu_valgum.svg

2. Theory

3

Methods

The different steps in constructing the application and the validation of the application will be presented in the next chapter. During all of the development, three clinical active physiotherapist have put their knowledge into the application, Inger Björkenlid, Linnéa Dahlin and Monica Sommar.

3.1 Development of application

The programming language used was java programmed in Android Studio version 4.1.2. The code is influenced and based on the Android developer guides, Motion sensors [26]. The application was built to work on a Xiaomi MI model:M1903F2G.

The development started with addressing the issue of interest, an objective way to measure motion in patients with OA. The development process is shown in a overview in figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1: Illustration of application development, full contours the way development turned out and dashed alternative tested or investigated during development process. Illustration by author.

After addressing the problem of training with OA, an overview of the market potential was done. Then the question of what is available to work with in the smartphone need to be answered. The three sensors of interest, accelerometer, magnetometer and gyroscope was further investigated. At first the thought was to go for velocity and displacement in meters. That track was followed for a while. Then it was realized that rotation angles would fit the need better and that track was analyzed. There are different ways to approach the rotation angles such as Euler angles and quaternions. The signals can be filtered in different ways. The complementary filter was chosen and angles of displacement around x-axis is used to measure the position of the knee and around y-axis to measure time up and down to set boundaries for the parameter control. There is a possibility to investigate the angular velocity curve to make a judgment if the patient is performing the motion in a controlled fashion or not.

3.1.1 System design

When using the application the start screen will be the standard mode, training screen. There the user can go to advanced mode or analyze using the button, "Advanced Training" or to "Analyze". To begin measurement the user should click "Start Training", this calibrates the angles and starts measurement of the movement. The illustration in figure 3.2 shows the system design of the application.



Figure 3.2: The system design illustrated. Illustration by author.

The calibration is done by subtracting the current input when initializing the calibration, so the angles are measured relative to the calibration position. During the training the user will get information in green or red numbers. After the training is done the user can go to analyze to get an overview of the training results. The user then need to reset the list if an other set of repetitions will be performed and analyzed. There is no option to save your results in the application at this time.

3.2 Validation

There is a need for validation of the precision of the application, this validation is performed in two steps. One with the smartphone on a table and the other in action.

3.2.1 Protractor validation

For the first step in validation of the application a protractor is used. The device is moved in different angles and then back to original position to get the accuracy of the measurements. The positions used around the x-axis is plus and minus of the following angles; 0°, 5°, 10° and 15°. This test is repeated 10 times. An illustration of the test setup is shown in figure 3.3.



(a) Illustration over validation at 0°

(b) Illustration over validation at 10°

Figure 3.3: Illustration over the validation process around the x-axis. Illustration by author.

The positions used around y-axis is the following angles; 0° , 30° , 60° and 90° . This test is repeated 10 times. An illustration of the test setup is shown in figure 3.4. The difference of angles tested around x- and y-axis is due to the nature of the possible movement in valgus or up and down.



(a) Illustration over validation at 0°



(b) Illustration over validation at 30°



3.2.2 Squat time validation

To validate if the application measures the time for a completed squat correctly, a visual approximation of the squat was compared with the result from the application. The time starts when the test person starts rising from the chair and stops upon return to the seat. This to be able to make a judgment upon control around the y-axis.

3.2.3 Activity validation

The highest priority is that the application works during training, the next validation step is to see if it works during active movement, the test-setup is shown in figure 3.5. To calibrate the boundaries a first trial with 8 squats was analyzed by the team of physiotherapists on film. After that a test subject will do three sets of 10 repetitions of squats that will be filmed. The team of physiotherapists will independently judge the squat according to the two parameters; control of valgus position and up and down movement. Then the result from the application will be extracted and compared with the visual subjective judgment.



Figure 3.5: Illustration over the activity validation process. Illustration by author.

3.2.4 Usability

To evaluate the usability of the application qualitative parameters will be extracted, from the team of physiotherapists using the application. The result will be a compilation of what the team said during the test of the application, divided into subsections extracted from the communications.

4

Results

The application and the validation results will be presented in the following chapter.

4.1 Application

The application programmed in this thesis work is showcased in the three screens as mentioned in the method section, training screen, figure 4.1, advanced training screen, figure 4.2 and analyzing screen, figure 4.3. The first screen is a simple and clean screen, where the knee position and repetition time is shown, the values of performance will turn red if repetition is out of boundaries and stay green if the exercise is performed well. The "Start Training" button zeroes the angle measurement so that the deviation angles can be calculated and shown as results. The user has the possibility to go to the advanced training screen or analyze the results of the set of repetitions previously performed.



Figure 4.1: The launch screen, also called training screen. Illustration by author.

The screen in advanced mode figure 4.2 shows more data with angle plots in realtime and the angular deviation curve for the x- and y-axis. Here "Start" is the zeroing button. At this screen it is also possible to go back to the launch screen, training screen, or go to the analyze screen where the list of performed squats is shown.



Figure 4.2: The advanced training screen. Illustration by author.

At the analyze screen, figure 4.3, the user can see all results from the training in list form. Due to regulations with saving data there is no possibility to save the results in the application, yet. The user can reset the list and start a new set of exercise when desired or continue and keep the previous results until visiting the screen again.

14:52 🖉			* all 🗢 🚳
# 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	Repetition Time 1.81 3.76 2.55 5.64 2.55 5.64 2.75 3.89	Knee Positior 0.00 -1.29 -1.45 0.00 -0.11 -0.15 -0.80 -3.73	1
	RESE	T LIST	
	TRA	INING	
	ADVANCE	O TRAINING	

Figure 4.3: The analyze list screen. Illustration by author.

4.2 Validation results

The results from the different validation steps will be presented in this section.

4.2.1 Protractor validation

The results from the protractor validation is presented in the following tables. The first table contains the validation around x-axis in positive direction, table 4.1 and around x-axis in negative direction is seen in table 4.2. At the last two rows in both tables the average measured angle and the average differentiation is presented. The large offset both in positive and negative direction occurred when returning to

Deg Rep	0°	5°	10°	15°	0°
1	0	4.1	10.5	14.4	-8.8
2	0	5.4	11.5	15.3	-3.3
3	0	4.7	10.6	16.2	-0.5
4	0	5.0	11.6	15.9	0.9
5	0	5.3	11.2	15.9	0.2
6	0	5.6	10.8	14.8	0.9
7	0	3.8	11.8	14.2	-4.2
8	0	4.3	9.6	13.3	-1.8
9	0	6.4	11.9	14.4	-2.1
10	0	4.0	9.0	14.8	-2.5
Average angle	0	4.86	10.85	14.92	-2.12
Average diff	0	-0.14	0.85	-0.08	-2.12

starting position, this implies that there could be a need for calibration between sets.

 Table 4.1: Results of protractor validation around x-axis in positive direction measured in degrees.

Deg Rep	0°	-5°	-10°	-15°	0°
1	0	-5.2	-10.7	-16.1	0.3
2	0	-4.5	-8.2	-12.4	2.3
3	0	-4.3	-10.1	-14.6	1.6
4	0	-5.6	-10.0	-14.5	1.1
5	0	-4.5	-9.0	-13.2	1.6
6	0	-5.4	-9.8	-14.9	0.6
7	0	-4.7	-8.6	-14.3	1.1
8	0	-4.2	-9.4	-15.5	0.6
9	0	-4.8	-8.8	-13.4	1.6
10	0	-4.5	-8.6	-13.2	1.5
Average angle	0	-4.77	-9.32	-14.21	1.23
Average diff	0	-0.23	-0.68	-0.79	1.23

 Table 4.2: Results of protractor validation around x-axis in negative direction measured in degrees.

For the validation around y-axis the results is presented in table 4.3. At the last two rows the average measured angle and the average differentiation is presented. Around the y-axis the biggest offset is about 90°, which is expected as it is at the largest deviation from origin.

Deg Rep	0°	30°	60°	90°	0°
1	0	30.2	57.7	87.8	0.6
2	0	30.4	57.3	87.4	-0.1
3	0	30.1	57.2	87.7	-0.2
4	0	30.4	58.9	88.6	-0.4
5	0	30.6	58.6	88.6	0.2
6	0	30.3	57.9	89.7	-1.0
7	0	30.2	60.0	87.8	0.2
8	0	29.9	59.2	86.9	0.2
9	0	30.0	57.6	87.2	-0.2
10	0	29.8	58.2	87.4	0.1
Average angle	0	30.19	58.26	87.91	-0.06
Average diff	0	0.19	-1.74	-2.09	0.06

Table 4.3: Results of protractor validation around y-axis measured in degrees.

4.2.2 Squat time validation results

The repetition time results in seconds is shown in table 4.4. At the last row an average differentiation between the clocked time using visual judgment and the time the application calculated. The average difference is 0.097s.

Rep	application	clocked
1	2.67	2.98
2	2.76	2.69
3	2.55	3.01
4	2.73	2.99
5	2.82	2.71
6	3.0	2.88
7	2.79	2.97
8	2.64	2.54
9	2.67	2.66
10	2.52	2.69
Average diff	0.09	7

 Table 4.4: Time difference between application measured squat-time and clocked time in seconds.

4.2.3 Activity validation

The results of the activity validation is presented in the following tables, where green is good performance and red failure, app stands for application results and PT for physiotherapist. The results is presented in the tables 4.5 to 4.10. There is a clear difference between the application and the physiotherapist judgment. The conclusions from the observations are not unanimous among the physiotherapists.

Rep	App	PT1	PT2	PT3
1				
2				
3				
4				
5				
6				
7				
8				
9				
10				

 Table 4.5:
 Repetition time set one

Rep	App	PT1	PT2	PT3
1				
2				
3				
4				
5				
6				
7				
8				
9				
10				

 Table 4.6:
 Knee position set one

Rep	App	PT1	PT2	PT3
1				
2				
3				
4				
5				
6				
7				
8				
9				
10				

 Table 4.7:
 Repetition time set two



Table 4.9: Repetition time set three



Table 4.8: Knee position set two



Table 4.10: Knee position set three

4.2.4 Usability

The results from the response from the team of physiotherapists is divided into different subsections below.

4.2.4.1 Need for an application

The group of physiotherapist is unanimous when evaluating the application. There is a need in clinic for such an instrument. It would be usable both for professionals and patients, they say. The application could be useful in other patient categories as well, such as for patients suffering from an anterior collateral ligament (ACL) injury. It could also be a big motivator for the patients to keep on training at home, building up empowerment on their own.

4.2.4.2 Technical comments

The group commented that they can not see a problem with the small deviation in the protractor validation results. They state that they can not see the difference in a couple of degrees. They also see a need to do studies about boundary conditions and analysis of what a good or bad performance is for different exercises and injuries.

4.2.4.3 Parameter control

As the application is implemented today they can see a problem with that there is no way to measure how much weight is placed on the different legs, the patient could be doing a very unsymmetrical squat and still get a pass from the application. When the physiotherapists evaluates the performance they mentioned that the control can be good overall, a green result, but they would have corrected the test subjects performance for example at the end of the exercise not to drop to the seat, something that is not captured by timing alone.

4. Results

5

Discussion and Conclusion

The main issues with this application and analysis of the movement comes from the implementation of Euler angles and the fact that a smartphone is only one set of sensors and not two or more to measure both legs. There will also be some discussion about other uses for the application and future areas of improvement to work with.

5.1 Discussion

In this section discussions about the technical limitations of the thesis as well as some issues and areas of improvement.

5.1.1 Angles of interest

To validate if the patient performs the exercise both with control in up and down movement and does not fall into valgus position, two angles are measured. The angle used to evaluate valgus position is small, ranging only plus and minus four degrees from origin for an approved squat, meaning that the margin of error in measurement is low. The angles to evaluate and calculate the time for up and down movement is larger but needs to be stable as well.

Due to gimbal locking the system becomes unstable when in the standing position, this is making the measurement of the valgus angle unstable, sometimes giving 180 degrees deviation from origin even if the angle did not change that much. This problem can be solved by stopping the measurement near the top part of the movement. This limitation will probably not influence the measurement of the valgus position as it is not so common to fall into valgus position when the leg is straight. However measurement must begin on the way down again to make sure valgus position is avoided. The problem of gimbal locking when using Euler angles is probably best solved by using quaternions instead [27]. However Euler angles have presented reliable results in all angles except at the standing position.

5.1.2 Control is a hard parameter to analyze

The way to check if the exercise is performed in a controlled fashion is to measure the time to finish the movement. This is done by starting a timer upon rising and stopping the timer when reaching the seated position again. Setting boundaries for time to complete the movement was a solution to get a working application during the thesis. A more effective way to analyze whether or not the user performs the movement with control is to measure the smoothness of the curve for the angular velocity around the y-axis. Using this approach it would also be possible to see what part of the movement the patient is having trouble keeping the same speed as the rest of the movement.

5.1.3 Technical limitations

The scope of the thesis is limited to just one phone model. The problem of using sensor data with different phones is the need of different filter parameters due to differences in the sensors between phone models. This is a known problem and could not be solved in the frame of this thesis.

The sensors the system is built upon is an other issue, the accuracy and disturbance from other signals. The magnetometer can have problems indoors due to other magnetic fields it can pick up. The accelerometer data have a lot of noise in the signal. The filtering can attenuate signals of interest, and the noise can give false result. The gyroscope drifts and need filtering and correction using the magnetometer to get a stable signal. The results can however be assumed to be mostly correct after filtration [33], the results from this report also indicate the same conclusion.

5.1.4 Complementary or Kalman filter

The complementary filter used in the application do have similar results as for a more advanced filter type as the Kalman filter [31]. A complementary filter is easy to adjust with only one parameter compared to the Kalman filter [31]. For this application the precision of the complementary filter have proven to be good enough.

5.1.5 Precision for science

If the device is to be used as a scientific tool to measure training with OA there is a possibility to increase the accuracy with the Kalman filter approach and usage of quaternions [31]. The information available can be increased by adding sensors as well [27, 34], the system will be more complex than the smartphone alone. With a more complex system, there will be a need for the patients to purchase another device [34].

5.1.6 Sensitive to updates

The application as implemented today is sensitive to updates of the smartphone operative system as have been discovered during the development process. After an update the filter parameters might need to be adjusted to have a stable system again.

5.1.7 Validation process

During the validation process two problems arose. First movements around x-axis had some problem going back to origin. The angles around y-axis became very erratic when the phone was at 90 degrees due to the phenomenon of gimbal lock. Both problems would probably be solved by using quaternions.

The validation during activity gave varying results, both from the application and internally in the group of physiotherapists. This implies that the application could be of great use even for physiotherapists. Another reason for the discrepancy between the physiotherapists judgments could be that they had to evaluate the movements by film, something that could trick the eye. Allowing only one viewing angle which is the case when filming from the front is not optimal for visual judgment.

5.1.8 Other areas of interest

The application could be used for other areas and injuries where rehabilitation is made using similar parameters as for OA. One such example could be ACL-injuries that the physiotherapists brought up during discussion about the application. It might require different boundary angles meaning that you might need to select what type of training you want to use the application for when starting it.

5.1.9 Opening on the market

There are statements from different actors showing that web-based treatments can be an effective alternative to treat patients with OA [16, 18]. The next step for internet-based training could be to receive direct feedback during training. It would increase efficiency and lead to increased empowerment for the patients, increasing likelihood of continuing with the training.

5.2 Future work

For future work a dot list is presented:

- Change structure to quaternions
- Implement and analyze the angular velocity curve for evaluation of control
- Interface layout
- Implement for different exercises and injuries
- Get better boundary conditions and implement for different exercises
- Test the application in clinic

5.3 Conclusion

The application constructed during this masters thesis could work as a tool during training for patients suffering from OA. Not least to build empowerment during training at home. And work as an objective measurement tool for health care

providers during examination of movement. There is a need of further development for parameters like control and make the implementation of quaternions to take it to the next level. This application can be seen as a proof of concept, there is a possibility to help patients suffering from OA during training with this type of application.

Bibliography

- Socialstyrelsen, "Nationella riktlinjer för rörelseorganens sjukdomar reumatoid artrit, axial spondylartrit, psoriasisartrit, artros och osteoporos," Available at https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepoint-dokument/ artikelkatalog/nationella-riktlinjer/2020-4-6743.pdf (2020/12/04).
- [2] M. Cross, E. Smith, D. Hoy, S. Nolte, I. Ackerman, M. Fransen, L. Bridgett, S. Williams, F. Guillemin, C. Hill, L. Laslett, G. Jones, F. Cicuttini, R. Osborne, T. Vos, R. Buchbinder, A. Woolf, and L. M. ., "The global burden of hip and knee osteoarthritis: estimates from the global burden of disease 2010 study," Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases, vol. 73, no. 7, pp. 1323–1330, 2014.
- [3] "4 who department of chronic diseases and health promotion." Available at http://www.who.int/chp/topics/rheumatic/en/ (2021/01/20).
- [4] D. Pereira, B. Peleteiro, J. Araújo, J. Branco, R. Santos, and E. Ramos, "The effect of osteoarthritis definition on prevalence and incidence estimates: a systematic review," *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, vol. 19, no. 11, pp. 1270–1285, 2011.
- [5] F. Rannou and S. Poiraudeau, "Non-pharmacological approaches for the treatment of osteoarthritis," *Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 93–106, 2010.
- [6] C. Thorstensson, G. Garellick, and L. Dahlberg, "Bättre omhändertagande av patienter med artros, boa," *Läkartidningen*, vol. 111, 2014.
- [7] J. Caneiro, P. B. Sullivan, E. M. Roos, A. J. Smith, P. Choong, M. Dowsey, D. J. Hunter, J. Kemp, J. Rodriguez, S. Lohmander, S. Bunzli, and C. J. Barton, "Three steps to changing the narrative about knee osteoarthritis care: a call to action," *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, vol. 54, no. 5, pp. 256–258, 2020. [Online]. Available: https://bjsm.bmj.com/content/54/5/256
- [8] L. Sharma, J. Song, D. Dunlop, D. Felson, C. E. Lewis, N. Segal, J. Torner, T. D. V. Cooke, J. Hietpas, J. Lynch, and M. Nevitt, "Varus and valgus alignment and incident and progressive knee osteoarthritis," *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*, vol. 69, no. 11, p. 1940–1945, 2010.
- [9] D. T. Felson, J. Niu, K. D. Gross, M. Englund, L. Sharma, D. V. Cooke, A. Guermazi, F. W. Roemer, N. Segal, J. M. Goggins, C. E. Lewis, C. Eaton, and M. C. Nevitt, "Valgus malalignment is a risk factor for lateral knee osteoarthritis incidence and progression: Findings from most and the osteoarthritis initiative," *Arthritis and rheumatism*, vol. 65, no. 2, p. 355–362, 2010.
- [10] R. Barnett, "Osteoarthritis," The Lancet, vol. 391, 2018.

- [11] M. C. van Doormaal, G. A. Meerhoff, T. P. V. Vlieland, and W. F. Peter, "A clinical practice guideline for physical therapy in patients with hip or knee osteoarthritis," *Musculoskeletal Care*, vol. 18, p. 575–595, 2020.
- [12] C. E. Safran-Norton, J. K. Sullivan, J. J. Irrgang, H. M. Kerman, K. L. Bennell, G. Calabrese, L. Dechaves, B. Deluca, A. B. Gil, M. Kale, B. Luc-Harkey, F. Selzer, D. Sople, P. Tonsoline, E. Losina, and J. N. Katzcor, "A consensusbased process identifying physical therapy and exercise treatments for patients with degenerative meniscal tears and knee oa: the tempo physical therapy interventions and home exercise program," *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*, vol. 20, no. 514, 2019.
- [13] C. Nguyen, M.-M. Lefèvre-Colau, S. Poiraudeau, and F. Rannou, "Rehabilitation (exercise and strength training) and osteoarthritis: A critical narrative review," Annals of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine, vol. 59, no. 3, pp. 190–195, 2016.
- [14] R. Zhang, J. Ma, J. Han, W. Zhang, and J. Ma, "Mesenchymal stem cell related therapies for cartilage lesions and osteoarthritis," *American journal of* translational research, vol. 11, no. 10, pp. 6275–6289, 2019.
- [15] D. Bossen, C. Veenhof, K. E. V. Beek, P. M. Spreeuwenberg, J. Dekker, and D. H. D. Bakker, "Effectiveness of a web-based physical activity intervention in patients with knee and/or hip osteoarthritis: Randomized controlled trial," *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, vol. 15, no. 11, p. e257, 2013.
- [16] L. E. Dahlberg, A. Dell'Isola, L. S. Lohmander, and H. Nero, "A 6-week web-based osteoarthritis treatment program: Observational quasi-experimental study," *PLoS ONE*, vol. 15, no. 3, p. e0229783, 2020.
- [17] H. Nero, J. Dahlberg, and L. Dahlberg, "A 6-week web-based osteoarthritis treatment program: Observational quasi-experimental study," *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, vol. 19, no. 12, p. e422, 2017.
- [18] S. A. Gohir, F. Eek, A. Kelly, A. Abhishek, and A. M. Valdes, "Effectiveness of internet-based exercises aimed at treating knee osteoarthritis: The ibeat-oa randomized clinical trial," *JAMA Network Open*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. e210012– e210012, 2021.
- [19] M. do Carmo Vilas-Boas, H. M. P. Choupina, A. P. Rocha, J. M. Fernandes, and J. P. S. Cunha, "Full-body motion assessment: Concurrent validation of two body tracking depth sensors versus a gold standard system during gait," *Journal of Biomechanics*, vol. 87, pp. 189–196, 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0021929019301861
- [20] A. J. Bittel, A. Elazzazi, and D. C. Bittel, "Accuracy and precision of an accelerometer-based smartphone app designed to monitor and record angular movement over time," *Telemedicine and e-Health*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 302–309, 2016.
- [21] T. Kuhlmann, P. Garaizar, and U.-D. Reips, "Smartphone sensor accuracy varies from device to device in mobile research: The case of spatial orientation," *Behavior Research Methods*, 2020.
- [22] A. M. Sabatini, "Estimating three-dimensional orientation of human body parts by inertial/magnetic sensing," *Sensors*, vol. 11, no. 2, p. 1489–1525, 2011.

- [23] O. J. Woodman, "An introduction to inertial navigation," Cambridge UK, Tech. Rep., 2007.
- [24] D. H. Titterton and J. L. Weston, Strapdown Inertial Navigation Technology, 2nd ed., ser. Radar, Sonar and Navigation Series 17. London United Kingdom and Reston Verginia USA: The Institution of Electrical Engineers and The American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, 2004.
- [25] D. Roetenberg, "Inertial and magnetic sensing of human motion," Ph.D. dissertation, UNIVERSITY OF TWENTE PO BOX 217 7500 AE ENSCHEDE THE NETHERLANDS, 2006.
- [26] "Motion sensors," Available at https://https://developer.android.com/guide/ topics/sensors/sensors_motion (2021/04/09).
- [27] D. Ognissanti, E. Wedin, and N. Andersson, "Rotationer och kvaternioner," Gothenburg, Sweden, Tech. Rep., 2012.
- [28] R. Ferrero, F. Gandino, M. Hemmatpour, B. Montrucchio, and M. Rebaudengo, "Exploiting accelerometers to estimate displacement," in 2016 5th Mediterranean Conference on Embedded Computing (MECO), 2016, pp. 206–210.
- [29] P. Chen, Y. Kuang, and J. Li, "Human motion capture algorithm based on inertial sensors," *Journal of Sensors*, p. 15, 2016.
- [30] Z. Yi, H. Huosheng, and Z. Huiyu, "Study on adaptive kalman filtering algorithms in human movement tracking," in *International Conference on Information Acquisition*, 07 2005, p. 5 pp.
- [31] M. Nowicki, J. Wietrzykowski, and P. Skrzypczyński, "Simplicity or flexibility? complementary filter vs. ekf for orientation estimation on mobile devices," in 2015 IEEE 2nd International Conference on Cybernetics (CYBCONF), 2015, pp. 166–171.
- [32] G. G. Slabaugh, "Computing euler angles from a rotation matrix."
- [33] Z. Ma, Y. Qiao, B. Lee, and E. Fallon, "Experimental evaluation of mobile phone sensors," 06 2013.
- [34] D. Rado, A. Sankaran, J. Plasek, D. Nuckley, and D. Keefe, "A real-time physical therapy visualization strategy to improve unsupervised patient rehabilitation," *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 01 2009.

DEPARTMENT OF PHYSICS CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY Gothenburg, Sweden www.chalmers.se

